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Foreword


The contrast between 25th Street in Ogden, Utah, today and the section of town known in earlier decades as Two-Bit Street couldn’t be more disparate. Where brothels, opium dens, illegal gambling, and bootleg booze once ruled, where even gangster Al Capone was rumored to refuse to spend the night, there now exists a three-block district of art galleries, specialty boutiques, fine dining, and craft breweries.

For a little more than eighty years, beginning in 1869, this piece of Ogden real estate was as rough as any hell-on-wheels town along the Union Pacific railway. Sitting just down the tracks from where the transcontinental railroad was completed with a golden spike at Promontory Point, Two-Bit Street is where prostitutes, gamblers, gunmen, and thieves drifted after the rail crews were dismissed.

To its credit, Ogden hasn’t forgotten its infamous past, and if you stop by the western terminus of 25th Street today, you can explore this once-wild section of an Old West town and take a tour of the buildings where crime and vice flourished. And if you close your eyes and listen hard, you just might hear the whispered voices of a time long past, and of hood named Alphonse Capone, who allegedly claimed:

This town is too tough for me.
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Lafe Doyle Interview
Session One


One thing I want to set straight right off is that you came to me. You’re the one saying you want to hear what it was like being a private detective in the gut of a city’s wicked underbelly, hip-deep in some of the worst and most notorious crimes to ever hit the front page.

Or, in a few instances, to never reach the papers at all, political coercion being what it was in those days.

But if you want to hear it, I’m willing to tell it, and gladly. It’s about time someone scraped the gilt off those years, and I doubt if there’s anyone around more qualified than I am to do it. I was born on 25th Street, and except for my time in the military and four years on the police force in Spokane, I’ve spent my entire life there. The Lord willing, I hope to die there, too—assuming I don’t croak in this damn hospital bed first.

So, okay, if that tape recorder’s spinning, let’s start.

I quit crime and became a private investigator in a roundabout manner. I’ve already mentioned I was with the Spokane PD for a time. That was in the late 1930s and early ’40s. I did three years as a uniformed patrolman, then a little over a year as a detective, working vice, homicide, wherever I was needed. It was a small force and we didn’t have the luxury of independent departments. Not a lot of people around Ogden know I was a cop. I suspect fewer still would believe it, considering my history along what we always called Two-Bit Street. But it’s the truth and you can check it out with the Spokane PD if you don’t believe me.

I don’t think it’s bragging to say I was a pretty good plainclothesman, and I would have likely stayed in that position if not for the bombing of Pearl Harbor in December of 1941. It seemed like half of Spokane’s police force quit to join the fight. I was one of them, mad as hell and ready to rumble as we used to say, although I never got the chance. After catching an eight millimeter round in my hip from one of those Kraut belt-feds at Fedala, then spending a couple of months in a London hospital, I was sent home to recuperate. And home, to me, has always meant 25th Street, Ogden, Utah.

Considering my record with OPD—I’d been on the wrong side of the law more often than not while growing up—I knew I’d never carry a badge in this city. Nor would I have lasted long if I tried. I knew too many secrets for the local bosses—crime bosses, I mean—to ignore my accepting such a position. Not to mention some of the old-time shield carriers who still considered me rotten to my core, no matter what my record was in Spokane. So I became a private investigator, setting up shop in an office on the south side of 25th, between Lincoln and Grant avenues.

The majority of cases I worked in the 1940s and early ’50s were fairly run-of-the-mill for those days. Cheating spouses—back then you had to catch them in the act, and have proof of their infidelity to back it up, if you wanted a divorce—paid, if not well, then at least steadily enough to cover the rent most months. Missing persons’ cases popped up from time to time as well. Although generally not as lucrative as catching a husband or wife in some kind of illicit affair, they also helped keep the lights on and food in my belly. It was honest work, though less than satisfying. Most of the runaways I hunted—some young, some old—were all too often fleeing a home life I’d have likely fled myself.

By far the best money I made in the mid-1940s was tracking down AWOL soldiers and sailors. Since the railroad came through in 1869—the driving of the fabled Golden Spike happened just a couple of hours north of us—Ogden had been a central hub for rail traffic. It was where the Union Pacific and Central Pacific butted up against one another, and where smaller lines had soon spider-webbed out to all points of the compass. Ogden’s unofficial title was Junction City, a designation the community was proud of, and the Union Pacific Depot at the western tip of 25th Street was the heart of the Intermountain West.

With that kind of transitory influx, it hadn’t taken long for devilry to rear its ugly head. Some said it came in with the first surveyors and tracklayers, and I didn’t doubt it. By the 1940s, all the vice along 25th Street—from prostitution to drugs to gambling—was like candy to a kid in those rowdy days, and military personnel missing a train or bus for the next leg of their transfer was common.

The smart ones turned themselves in to face the music after sobering up. The dumb ones waited until they were caught, either by the military or bounty hunters like me. Sometimes they resisted, but at a hundred bucks a pop, an occasional busted lip or black eye was worth overlooking. For the most part, though, even those who tried to hide would give up without much struggle when discovered. It was kind of like they were relieved to be nabbed, to have the uncertainty of a life on the run lifted from their shoulders.

Yet even with that, mine was a fairly mundane career. But there were a few incidents between the humdrum that hit hard and close to home. Daisy Le Fleur was one of those, and she’s the one I want to tell you about first.

Daisy wasn’t actually my case. The cops led that investigation from the get-go, but I’d been engaged to locate a missing woman whom my client feared had been murdered, and Daisy, well, she was key to my search. I just didn’t know it in the beginning.

The first time I saw Daisy, she was lying on her back with her eyes wide open, a platinum blonde in the style of Jean Harlow or Betty Hutton. Her hair might have been a little longer and finer than Harlow’s, and sported softer curls than Hutton’s, ringing her face in a metallic halo, but it was obvious she’d fashioned her looks after Hollywood starlets. I remember bright red lipstick and brows plunked in a delicate arch above her glazed eyes. I pegged her age as mid- to late-twenties, a pretty girl but already growing hard around the edges. Death will do that, but so will whoring. I didn’t know her name then, but I soon would.

She’d been dead awhile by the time she was discovered. Her cheeks were sunken and the fingers on her right hand were knotted into a fist. I was willing to bet her toes were curled too, inside what I could see of her tight crimson slippers. The cold weather that had moved in over the Thanksgiving weekend had been kind to her. There was no odor that I could detect, and the pooled water around her face was capped with a paper-thin lid of ice that had slowed her decay. The guys from the morgue would appreciate that.

I’d have likely walked on by without knowing anything was amiss if not for the small crowd already gathered on the rim of a recently cleaned drainage ditch in an empty lot south of 25th. The trench was probably six feet deep and four across. A low pyramid of cast iron pipe—twenty feet in length and maybe two in diameter—was stacked nearby, waiting to be placed in the channel. A sun-faded yellow crane sat parked to one side, its boom and tiny jib reminding me of a vulture with its neck thrust into the predawn sky. The trench sloped gently westward, where it would eventually deposit its waste from some of the nicer neighborhoods on the bench above Washington Boulevard into the marshy ground on the far side of the U.P. railyards.

I figure whoever dumped the body there and covered it with a thin layer of loose soil hadn’t counted on last night’s heavy rains washing away so much dirt. If not for that, it would have been easy to imagine a construction crew placing a pipe squarely on top of the body, with no real reason for any of them to notice the slight disturbance in the bottom of the trench. Even with the rain, she was still mostly buried—just the toes of her bright red shoes, the small oval of her face, a part of one pale shoulder, and the back of a hand were exposed to the elements.

The cops hadn’t been there long. Dave Brunelli was the day sergeant, coolly efficient as he took charge of the trench’s perimeter. A couple of flatfoots I knew only as Blake and Morley were also on hand. It had likely been one of them who had called in Brunelli. I didn’t know the beat cops well, but I’d been friendly with Dave since he first came on the force in ’35 or ’36, before I left for Spokane. He was a good cop. I had a lot of respect for him.

The homicide detectives were just getting there, sidestepping icy puddles and clumps of half-frozen mud between the rear of the alley and the trench. I knew them, too. The lead investigator was Eugene Bullock, although most of the regulars along Two-Bit Street called him Bull. The name fit. He was a stocky son of a bitch, five-eight or so and probably 220 pounds, most of it muscle, although he’d been going soft in the belly for a few years now. He had a thick neck and ham-like fists, the knuckles scarred from the broken teeth of the bums and drunks he liked to harass. Bull was a good investigator, I’ll give him that, but he was also a poster boy for everything that was wrong with cops, then and now. At the time, though, he was generally allowed to act with impunity, since the city’s hierarchy assumed he was smart enough not to rough up anyone who counted.

Bull’s partner was something of an anomaly for those days, having a college education, a medical deferment from the draft, and a soft-spoken manner. His name was Keith Rosser. Although a good three inches taller than Bullock, he seemed way too skinny for police work. I doubt if he would have gone much above 140 pounds soaking wet—a distinct disadvantage in a field where intimidation could often get you out of trouble a whole lot quicker than a degree in criminology. A willingness to use their brawn to get results was how guys like Bullock got promotions when the brainy ones—men like Rosser and Brunelli—so often languished in the ranks.

The two homicide dicks got there just seconds after I did. Bull’s gaze briefly touched mine, then moved on to scrutinize the faces of others in the crowd. He was searching for an expression—excitement, anticipation, anything—that might tip him off to a suspect, since it was pretty well known among cops that there is a certain kind of criminal who likes to watch an investigation into their work unfold. They say arsonists are bad about that, but so are some murderers, and even at that early stage of the investigation, I don’t think anyone on the scene doubted that Daisy Le Fleur had been murdered.

Bull must have come up empty of suspects, because it wasn’t but a few moments later that his gaze swung back to me. A scowl ruffled his unruly auburn brows. He didn’t try to hide it, and never would. Bull and I were like flint and steel, striking sparks every time we came together. But he had more pressing matters to deal with at that point, and roughly shoved a path through the spectators crowding the patrolmen’s outstretched arms. I was standing on the opposite side of the trench, keeping some distance between me and a few others who were sharing the ditch’s southern rim with me because of a faint but pungent odor clinging to the cuff of my trousers. Stopping at the edge of the trench, Bull locked eyes with me a second time, his scowl deepening. Then he lowered his gaze to the half-buried corpse and exhaled heavily.

“You got an ID yet?” he asked Brunelli.

“No, sir. I didn’t think there was any question the victim was dead, so I had my men stand back until you got here.”

Bull nodded absently, his gaze moving back and forth along the rim of the trench, seeking an easy way down. His lips pursed in annoyance when he realized he’d have to do it the hard way, get down on his butt and slide in, mud and all. He raised his eyes again, saw me looking at him, probably saw my grin, too, and his cheeks reddened. “What are you doing here, Doyle?”

“Just passing through.”

“Yeah, from where? To where?”

“Just minding my own business, Bull.”

“That’d be a new one. When did it open, this new business of yours?” He was trying to be funny, you see, but he was too big of a peckerhead to pull it off.

“Bob Hope, you ain’t,” I told him, and Dave Brunelli turned away to hide his smile.

I guess I might as well fess up now that I can be kind of a smartass at times. I like to tell people it’s part of my charm, although I haven’t found many who would back me up on that.

Refusing to concede, Bull said, “What the hell would you know about Bob Hope? Oh yeah, you were in the service, weren’t you? For a while.”

My cheeks warmed at that. I’ll tell you, that ol’ boy knew which of my buttons to push. I wasn’t going to back down, though. Not from a tub of shit like Bullock. “I was right up front where the bullets were, Eugene.” I leaned heavily on the name, knowing he didn’t like it. “Not way in back checking the tire pressure on a general’s Jeep.”

Bull had served in the motor pool during our recent conflict with Hitler, Tojo, and Mussolini. To my knowledge, he hadn’t left England until the Allied Forces were firmly dug in on French soil. Meanwhile, I’d been with the 3rd Infantry in North Africa, although, granted, not for long. I’ve already mentioned I was wounded in the allied assault on Fedala, in Morocco. What I didn’t say was that I’d caught that bullet even before my unit hit the beach. In fact, the LCVP’s1 bow ramp had barely touched sand when Vichy French forces armed with German-built machine guns raked the craft’s interior, sending me back to England with big chunk of my hip shot off. Bull knew that, too . . . the bastard.


“Hey,” Rosser said, taking a half step toward Bullock as if to block him from my view. Or more likely, me from his. “We have a potential homicide here, gentlemen. We need to get hopping on this.”

“Sure,” Bull replied grudgingly. He threw me a final, fiery glare, before turning to Dave. “Clear these civilians outta here, Brunelli. This is a crime scene, not a goddamn sideshow.”

“All right, folks, let’s move on,” Dave ordered, raising his arms horizontally as if herding sheep. “Go on about your business and let us do our job.”

I moved up the ditch to where city workers had already covered several sections of pipe before the Thanksgiving holiday and continued on toward 25th. It was only then that I noticed a cluster of black men in the shadows behind the The Porter’s House, an off-street bar and boarding house where a lot of the local Negro population—especially those with ties to the railroad—liked to congregate. Titus Lee was standing close to them, but kind of off to one side, too. He gave me a barely perceptible nod when our eyes met and I instinctively veered toward him.

“Mr. Lafe,” he greeted as I moved in close to the building, out of a nosing wind that felt like it was tipped with frozen steel. I stopped a few feet away, aware of my odor.

“Titus, what brings you out in temperatures like this?”

He glanced skyward as if to confirm the character of the weather. Although the sun had yet to lift its bald yellow crown above the Wasatch Mountains that dominated the eastern horizon, it was light enough to reveal a gray canopy of moisture-laden clouds—rain or snow, it could go either way on a day like this. But Titus avoided my question with one of his own. “You out here, too, and awful early for a man who works mostly at night, ain’t it?”

“More late than early,” I said. “I haven’t been home yet.”

His nose wrinkled briefly, as if catching a foul whiff of my cuff. I pulled a pack of Camels from inside my coat and tipped it toward him. “Smoke?”

“I believe I will,” he replied, and slid a cigarette from the package, although careful not to touch any of the others. It was 1945, after all, and a black man had to be cautious, even on Two-Bit Street.

That “Mr. Lafe” bit was a part of it, too, a reflection of the times, and of Titus’s decades of employment as a porter for the Union Pacific. Back in the 1960s, listening to Dr. King on the radio when he gave that speech about the American Dream, I saw the “Mr.” in front of my name for what it really meant, and I’ll admit I felt ashamed for not having picked up on it earlier. But Daisy Le Fleur wasn’t murdered in the 1960s. She was killed in late November of 1945, when relations between whites and Negros were far different from what they are today; back then it was accepted as normal and uncontroversial from both sides of the racial coin.

I’d known Titus Lee just about my whole life. He was a tall, stately man with hair already turned to the color of burnished steel. His demeanor was always calm, no matter what the situation, the flesh of his face heavily crinkled. He’d been a porter at Union Station, on the western tip of Two-Bit Street, for most of his adult life, until arthritis of the spine finally took him down four or five years ago. Although you never heard him complain, you could see the pain in his slightly twisted stance, the torment of unemployment in his eyes. I figured him for somewhere in his mid-seventies, and hated to think what he’d be like by eighty if his back continued to deteriorate.

Titus was married to Eleanor Lee, whom some of the mossbacks along 25th Street called Aunt Ellie—some more of that old-time racial stuff, I suppose, although no disrespect was ever meant by it. Ellie worked at the Broom Hotel on the east end of Two-Bit, just before the street began its climb toward the ritzier sections of town. On those benches above the Weber River, east of Washington Boulevard, 25th Street shed its more disreputable image, along with its Two-Bit label, the same way a snake sheds its skin. At the Broom, one of the fancier hotels in the region, Ellie cleaned rooms, washed sheets, did dishes—whatever was needed to help keep the joint operating efficiently, its swanky clientele happy.

When I was a kid, running wild and rowdy in the alleys and dark passageways surrounding 25th, it was a handful of women like Ellie Lee who saw to it that my sisters and I were kept fed and scrubbed and had decent clothes to wear. Hand-me-downs, sure, but neatly patched and freshly laundered.

With Titus unable to do much physical labor anymore, Ellie’s was their only paycheck, and I reminded myself to drop off some groceries at their tidy little house on Binford Street. Neither of them would have accepted cash from a millionaire, but they generally seemed less averse to something more tangible. Especially if you could soften the blow with some kind of statement like “This food will just go to waste if someone doesn’t take it.”

I don’t suppose it fooled anyone, but it did make it easier to accept a little charity now and then. Besides, considering the way Ellie and others had cared for my sisters and me, I figured it’d take a boxcar of grub to pay back what I owed any of them.

Titus lipped the cigarette, but when I reached for my Zippo, he held up a hand to stop me. In it was his own cigarette lighter, one of those fancy Carlton Automatics, its polished silver case etched with intricate floral designs, a gold-rimmed thumbpiece up top like a bellboy’s cap.

“Damn,” I said admiringly, and returned my own brushed aluminum lighter to its pocket. “You’re moving up in the world, Titus.”

He grinned good-naturedly. “Pretty nice, ain’t it?”

“Like a pimp in a bowling alley.”

He laughed, thumbed a flame, and held it close to light my cigarette. “Don’t know about that, but it’s better than scrounging kitchen matches from Ellie. She’s tight with ’em.”

“I expect she’d skin you alive if she knew you’d bought something this fine.”

His smile disappeared. So did the lighter. “Miss Ellie don’t need to know everything, Mr. Lafe. You understand?”

I nodded. Titus meant I was to keep this information to myself and not tell his wife. It also meant, to me at least, that he hadn’t necessarily procured the lighter legitimately. That didn’t mean he stole it, but a lot of things besides cash got passed around on 25th for a variety of reasons. Sometimes it might be for a favor or a chore; other times, it might be as simple as looking the other way and minding your own business. Jutting my chin toward the cops surrounding the dame in the ditch, I said, “Know her?”

“No, sir, I surely don’t. Course, I ain’t seen her yet, which complicates the matter.”

“Who found her?”

“I heard it was Jake Campbell, although I ain’t yet talked to him about it. They say he was dumping slop in the ditch so he wouldn’t have to scrub the trash cans later, and saw them red toes of her shoes pokin’ outta the dirt like tiny tombstones.” He chuckled, started to say something else, then abruptly shut up.

My thoughts shifted to Jake Campbell. He’d been a fixture on 25th Street for a couple of decades by then. He was probably older than Titus, in his late seventies at least, a short, bent, bearded man, always poorly dressed, wearing cowboy boots and an ancient, sweat-stained Stetson.

When I first met him, Jake had just been fired as a stock boy from one of the city’s larger grocery stores. Since then, he’d skated through more jobs than I could count, seldom lasting longer than a few months at any of them. His most recent steady employment had been as a night watchman at the Powhatan Sugar Beet Company on Wall Avenue. He’d lost that job last summer to a Shoshone named Bill Lame Crow. The scuttlebutt was that Jake had been discovered either asleep or passed out drunk on the job by one of the plant’s managers. To add insult to indignity, it had been Lame Crow who accosted Jake at the plant’s rear entrance the next evening to inform him that he’d been fired.

Since then, Jake had taken whatever janitorial work he could find, usually in one or more of the second-rate bars that dotted downtown Ogden. It was said he’d take meals, a place to sleep, or castoff clothing if the bar owner didn’t want to pay him in cash. It wasn’t hard to imagine how he could have been out here and discovered the girl’s body.

My gaze returned to the trench and the cops huddled around it, their hands thrust into the deep pockets of their overcoats. The scene had changed rapidly in just a few minutes. The morgue had sent its wagon, a Chevrolet Carryall with the passenger seats removed, and a police photographer was leaning over the trench, bulbs flashing like gunshots in the still-gray light. The crowd of gawkers standing around the site had increased steadily as the downtown came slowly to life. I recognized several of them. Most were locals on their way to work; others were nightshift employees heading home after a brief stop on 25th for a beer or what passed for their evening meal. There were a fair number of strangers, too. Twenty-Fifth Street’s population had always been rather fluid. Maybe a third of us were long-term residents. The rest came and went like feathers tossed skyward in a gale.

Titus’s voice slipped softly into my ruminations. “This ain’t good, Lafe, finding that white gal dead behind a black man’s bar.”

I would have liked to remind him that there were any number of white-owned businesses nearby which the dead girl could have emerged from, assuming she hadn’t been killed elsewhere and her body dumped here, but I knew what he meant. Even if the cops did dismiss The Porter’s House as the woman’s place of death, there were plenty of local rednecks who would be more than happy to stir up mischief by pointing out the dead girl’s proximity to the bar and boarding house.

“It’ll work itself out,” I replied with frail conviction.

“Uh-huh, it always do, one way or another.”

I had no response for that, so checked my wristwatch instead. It was a quarter of six. From my time wearing a shield in Spokane, I knew the cops would be on hand for another hour or so. They would comb the trench and the ground around it for clues, discuss suspects and motives, speculate on the cause of death, and begin to make their assumptions before the coroner ever laid eyes on the dame. I didn’t have the patient to watch it play out. Besides, her murder was unrelated to what I was working on—or so I thought as I tossed my cigarette butt into the half-frozen mud next to The Porter’s House.

“See you later,” I said to Titus.

“Yes, sir,” the older man returned solemnly. “I expect so.”

I walked away, but after half a dozen paces I chanced a look back to where Titus was staring after me. His expression was pensive, without hint of a smile. I put it down to the pain in his spine and continued on my way.

 

1.   LCVP is a military acronym for “Landing Craft, Vehicle, Personnel.”



Lafe Doyle Interview
Session Two


Twenty-Fifth Street was largely deserted at that early hour. A few automobiles were still slanted into the curb from the night before, and Jake Campbell’s dog, a rust-and-white-colored mongrel with a shredded left ear, was nosing around the sprawled body of a late-night drunk sloped against the front wall of a bar. The guy was swinging a hand weakly at the dog, so I knew he was alive. I also knew he’d soon be gone, either dragged off the street by the bar’s owner or tossed in a paddy wagon if the cops weren’t too preoccupied with the dead blonde behind The Porter’s House.

At night, with all its neon shining, the music from live bands or jukeboxes spilling through doorways, and barhoppers laughing and yelling along the sidewalks having a swell ol’ time, 25th Street strummed with its own unique vitality. It was as if you could stand alone in the middle of the street and feel its energy flowing through your veins.

The image was drastically different with each new day. At dawn, the street looked mostly worn and grimy, its sidewalks and gutters littered with trash—empty cigarette wrappers, flattened butts, crumbled receipts, discarded matchbooks. And over it all, the faint scents of vomit, urine, and who knew what else, emanating from the alleys where the tanked and stoned lurched to pass out . . . assuming they made it that far. In those hours between first light and the sun’s rising, Two-Bit Street often reminded me of an abandoned war zone. Or a used, tossed condom.

By 1945, the street’s reputation was firmly established in the psyche of the young American male. Especially those returning home from overseas. With its vicinity to Union Station, the Crossroads of the West for the major rail lines—and don’t forget, most people still traveled by rail in those days—it was on par with places like San Francisco’s Tenderloin District or Venus Alley in Butte. Whores and booze, craps and poker, hard drugs like heroin and cocaine for those who preferred a stronger punch—it was all available along the Two-Bit if you knew how to find it. And believe me, the local pimps and dealers made sure that wasn’t hard to do.

The hard partiers loved 25th Street, and the squares were fascinated by its sinful allure. It wasn’t unusual to see the latter taking a hurried stroll along its three-block length just to say they’d been there. A few of the braver ones might even duck into a bar or pool hall, gawking like rubes at their first county fair.

The yokels were absent that morning as I made my way down the street, the revelers likely sleeping it off or passed out, the travelers and sightseers back in their Pullmans. Black smoke from several diesel locomotives chuffed into the pewtered sky behind Union Station as cars were switched to different lines. My destination was Shorty Chapman’s Red Arrow Bar and Grill, located in a narrow building on the north side of the street, near its western terminus. The Red Arrow was in a prime location because of its proximity to Union Station, and attracted a lot of patrons from the passenger trains that flowed through Ogden on rivers of steel. Good food swiftly served ensured a steady flow of foot traffic from the numerous plants and warehouses surrounding Union Station.

As far as any kind of nightly debauchery went, the Red Arrow was usually pretty tame. You might have a fight break out from time to time, or witness an occasional shouting match, but there was no gambling in the basement or prostitution upstairs, like you might find in other places. It wasn’t that Shorty was opposed to vice so much as he just didn’t have time for it. His opinion was that you couldn’t run a decent restaurant and tavern, then dabble in illegalities on the side. His opinion was that you could do one or the other well, but you couldn’t do both.

Although the Red Arrow wouldn’t officially open for another ten minutes, I knew Shorty was already inside, and I needed to talk to him before the breakfast rush got started. As I paused beneath the inward curved red neon arrow above the door that pointed out the entrance, I spotted my reflection in the distorted glass of the front door. I didn’t consider myself especially handsome, but I wasn’t a gnome, either. I stood about five-eleven in those days, though tilted slightly to the left after my brief foray into Morocco, and weighed right at a hundred and seventy pounds. I was wearing a gray pinstriped suit under a navy-colored wool topcoat, but had removed my tie the night before and shoved it into a side pocket of my jacket. A dark fedora was screwed down tight over my brows to keep the wind from running off with it. My little snub-nosed .38 Detective Special created only a slight lump under my jacket’s left sleeve, something most people would never notice. The limp didn’t show; it never did until you saw me walk.

I was thirty-six that year, have I mentioned that? Sporting a Clark Gable mustache between my upper lip and a slim, straight nose—this was before I got the damn thing busted by a pool cue in a bar over on 24th—I generally did all right with the dames. Dark eyes and a dusky complexion came from my mother’s side of the family. Her mother, my grandmother, who’d passed away while I was still an infant, had come over from Gallipoli, down on Italy’s heel, in the late 1880s. Her name had been Emiliano, or some such thing. My mother started calling herself Doyle, after a guy she’d shacked up with for nearly a year, although she was always quick to remind me that he wasn’t my father. Just who my old man actually was has remained a mystery to me and my sisters our entire life. Sadly, I suspect it did to my mother, as well.

Shorty Chapman was standing behind the bar that ran down the right-hand side of the room when I walked in. He was conferring with his cook, a big Cajun with massive shoulders and nautical tattoos along both arms called Ornery Broussard. “Ornery” wasn’t his real name, of course; his real name was Henri, so you can see how he got his moniker. Ornery was from somewhere deep in Louisiana and insisted he was the best short-order cook between Tampa and Seattle. I don’t know anyone who ever disputed the claim.

Shorty looked up as I entered, a blast of frigid air ducking in around my legs like slinking hounds. “There’s the man,” he greeted loudly.

“Hello, Shorty.” I nodded to Ornery, who returned the gesture in kind, along with a friendly smile.

“I thought you’d be around last night,” Shorty said. He was, as his nickname implied, a short-statured man. In his early sixties, he had close-cropped gray hair, a mustache slightly fuller than my own, and steady blue eyes.

“I got tied up.”

He considered that for a few seconds but didn’t ask why or how, and I didn’t offer an explanation. As I made my way down the bar, Ornery came to the plate—pardon the pun.

“You hungry, Lafayette?” he asked in that deep, rumbling voice you sometimes heard from big guys, as if their words had to be dredged up from the depths of a mine shaft.

“I could eat.” Actually, it felt as if my belly was rubbing itself raw against my spine, my last meal being just a beer and a bologna sandwich at noon the day before. “What have you got on the griddle?”

“Ain’t got nothing there yet, but won’t take a minute to throw some bacon and eggs on, if you ain’t particular.”

“I’m not, as long as there’s coffee to go with it.” I’d gotten chilled walking back from my sister’s house, then standing there smoking a cigarette with Titus Lee as we watched the cops flutter around the dead girl in the trench.

“Coffee’s already ready. Bacon and eggs won’t take but a mite longer.”

“You set it in front of me and I’ll make it disappear,” I promised.

Ornery chuckled and headed for the kitchen at the far end of the bar. I moved closer to Shorty, who wrinkled his nose the same way Titus had when I drew close to him. “Damn, Lafe, what’d you do, step in a pile of dog crap?”

“Something like that,” I replied irritably. Nobody likes to be told they stink, no matter what the actual source or legitimate reason. But I knew that as soon as I left the Arrow I’d have to scoot back to my apartment for a fresh change clothes.

“That’s puke,” he uttered. “You don’t spend half your life behind a bar and not recognize that smell.”

Well, he’d nailed the aroma, all right. I’d had vomit splattered over the cuff of my trousers shortly after pouring a shot of hydrogen peroxide down my sister Connie’s throat, after she tried to off herself with half a bottle of Blues. I’d been with her all last night while her husband, Ernie, worked the graveyard shift at Western States Meat Packing, over in West Ogden. Connie had been safely asleep when I left their small home on Doxey Street, a couple of blocks south of Two-Bit, and I knew Ernie would be home long before she woke up. I’d left him a note telling him what had happened, and felt confident he’d know how to handle it. This wasn’t the first time either of us had bulldozed through one of Connie’s suicide attempts.

Feigning a lack of interest in the odor wafting off my trouser leg—Shorty was blunt, but usually polite—even as he took a long step rearward to lean against the backbar, he said, “Did you hear about the gal they found behind The Porter’s House?”

“Word gets around fast. I just came from there.”

“You saw her?” He sounded surprised.

I nodded, then answered before he could ask. “I didn’t recognize her.”

“Yeah, Jake didn’t either.”

“Campbell? Was he here?”

“He showed up maybe ten minutes before you walked in and told me about her. Said he was the one who found her, but that he skipped out before the cops got there.”

“That was stupid.”

“Well, you know ol’ Jake ain’t the sharpest knife in the drawer. He wanted to order breakfast. I told him to get his hind end back there before the cops started thinking he was the one who iced her.”

“You suppose he did it?”

“What, kill the girl or go back and talk to the police?”

“What do you think?”

Shorty grinned. “I think he went back. Jake might not be all that smart, but he ain’t completely dumb, either.”

Jake Campbell was what I used to call one of Two-Bit Street’s unorthodox citizens. The area was abundant with them in those years. Still is, I guess. I’m talking about men and women who kept their heads down, their eyes averted, and who wouldn’t think twice about taking the long way around a crowd to avoid being seen—whether they had a reason to or not. Jake was an odd duck, although hardly alone in that regard.

Nodding absently, my thoughts already forging ahead, I said, “I got word you wanted to see me.”

“I do if you’re still looking for Cletus Watkins?”

“I am. What have you got?”

“I don’t know that I’ve necessarily got anything. I was just thinking that if I was looking for the guy, I might try his sister’s house over on Calhoun.” He shrugged and nonchalantly looked away, and if you didn’t know Shorty Chapman you might be inclined to dismiss his suggestion as idle speculation. But I considered the tip solid. He wouldn’t have summoned me here if it wasn’t.

Cletus Watkins worked for the same meat-packing company as my brother-in-law, but in the slaughtering pens, while Ernie was a first-class butcher with a station at the far end of the plant. As such, and in a facility with over two hundred employees, they probably seldom saw one another. I doubted they would have had much in common if they did.

Cletus was a burly guy in his early forties who liked to party loud and often, and who, when he drank enough, fancied himself a crackerjack billiards player. Late last Friday—this was a Monday morning, did I mention that?—Cletus had been hustling some transitory soldiers at The Side Pocket on 24th and gotten too full of himself. After cleaning out the soldiers, he’d been challenged by a slick-talking Mexican from Juárez named Benito Salazar.

Salazar was everything Cletus Watkins thought he was, and it hadn’t taken long for him to pluck Watkins like a rooster for Sunday dinner. He won everything Cletus had taken off the GIs, and most of a week’s pay from the meat-packing plant. The defeat had crushed Cletus’s ego. Salazar’s taunting of the larger man’s clumsiness around the table only exacerbated Watkin’s humiliation. With several shots of Pikesville Rye and a dozen beers sloshing around in his overhanging gut, Cletus had exploded against the Mexican and damn near beat him to death. Then he’d fled the billiards hall before anyone could nab him, likely the smartest move he’d made all evening.

The Side Pocket was run by a guy calling himself Long Shot Frankie Goff, out of Oklahoma City’s own tenderloin district known as Hell’s Half Acre. I doubt if Frankie gave two hoots in hell about Benito Salazar’s well-being, but he had a reputation to maintain. It was one thing for Cletus Watkins to clean out a bunch of soldiers passing through town—hell, it’d give those boys something to brag about when they got home—but busting a pool cue across Benito’s face, breaking his nose and shattering several teeth, was bad for the pool hall’s reputation. So he’d put the word out that it was worth fifty bucks to whoever delivered Cletus to The Side Pocket’s backroom. Nothing else required. Just bring him in, collect half a C-note, and take off.

Benito had ended up in the hospital, where the doctors on staff had spent several hours trying to patch back together what Cletus had scattered. Sadly, the rumor was that the results had been less than satisfactory.

It was the physician who’d worked on Salazar who called the cops. Now Ogden PD was also looking for Cletus, intending to charge him with battery, illegal gambling, public intoxication, and possibly theft, because when he’d taken flight, he’d snatched a wad of cash off the pool table’s side rail that rightfully belonged to Salazar.

I had my doubts about the theft charge sticking, since the cops would probably pocket the cash themselves and claim they hadn’t found any evidence of the pilfered bills. One thing we all felt certain of was that if the cops nabbed Watkins first, neither he nor Benito Salazar would ever see a nickel of that money.

So the cops wanted Cletus Watkins locked up in the city jail and Long Shot Frankie Goff wanted him battered and bleeding in someone else’s alley. And now I wanted him, because there just wasn’t that much of a demand for private investigators in Ogden, and I needed the money. Frankie was offering fifty bucks for delivery, but I figured I knew someone who would pay even more—assuming I could catch the guy before he skipped town.

“His sister?” I mused, in response to Shorty’s suggestion that I check out her house in West Ogden. Truthfully, I’d already considered the possibility and dismissed it as unlikely. It would be one of the first place anyone seriously looking for him would check. Either there or with one of his ex-wives—he had three of them at last count—which was why I hadn’t bothered. Scowling, I said, “If that’s where’s he’s hiding, he isn’t a whole lot smarter than Jake Campbell.”

“I never heard anyone say he was.”

Well, holing up at his sister’s place would be a stupid move, for a fact. But Shorty had a point. And since I hadn’t even considered the possibility feasible enough to act on only exposed my own fallacy. “Dumbass,” I murmured, and wasn’t sure if I meant Cletus or myself. I slid a fin across the bar. My meal would cost a dollar, but Shorty wouldn’t be returning any change.

The front door creaked open and a yardman from the Union Pacific poked his head past the jamb; several others stood behind him, rubber-necking for a view inside. “You open, Shorty?” the yardman asked.

“Sure, come on in, boys.” Shorty tossed me a farewell nod as he moved down the business side of the bar to greet the crew UP laborers tromping inside in their heavy coats and striped coveralls. They took side-by-side stools at the far end of the bar and listened with rapt attention as Shorty filled them in on the recently discovered corpse behind The Porter’s House. I heard the word “hooker” mentioned, and a couple of the UP crew members nodded sagely. Rumors start early on Two-Bit Street, and most of them take off like bottle rockets.

Ornery came out of the kitchen carrying a tray with five cups of coffee balanced on top. He paused long enough to set one in front of me, then headed on down the bar to pass the rest out among the UP laborers. I took mine to a table against the side wall and sagged into a chair, exhausted after my long night with Connie. Ornery showed up with my bacon and eggs a few minutes later. As he leaned forward to set the plate in front of me, a grimace flashed across his face. He gave me a questioning look, and I jutted my chin toward the yardmen. Ornery glanced their way, his gaze traveling swiftly over their shoes, then shook his head and returned to the kitchen.
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   TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR USE, REPRODUCTION, AND DISTRIBUTION

   1. Definitions.

      "License" shall mean the terms and conditions for use, reproduction,
      and distribution as defined by Sections 1 through 9 of this document.

      "Licensor" shall mean the copyright owner or entity authorized by
      the copyright owner that is granting the License.

      "Legal Entity" shall mean the union of the acting entity and all
      other entities that control, are controlled by, or are under common
      control with that entity. For the purposes of this definition,
      "control" means (i) the power, direct or indirect, to cause the
      direction or management of such entity, whether by contract or
      otherwise, or (ii) ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
      outstanding shares, or (iii) beneficial ownership of such entity.

      "You" (or "Your") shall mean an individual or Legal Entity
      exercising permissions granted by this License.

      "Source" form shall mean the preferred form for making modifications,
      including but not limited to software source code, documentation
      source, and configuration files.

      "Object" form shall mean any form resulting from mechanical
      transformation or translation of a Source form, including but
      not limited to compiled object code, generated documentation,
      and conversions to other media types.

      "Work" shall mean the work of authorship, whether in Source or
      Object form, made available under the License, as indicated by a
      copyright notice that is included in or attached to the work
      (an example is provided in the Appendix below).

      "Derivative Works" shall mean any work, whether in Source or Object
      form, that is based on (or derived from) the Work and for which the
      editorial revisions, annotations, elaborations, or other modifications
      represent, as a whole, an original work of authorship. For the purposes
      of this License, Derivative Works shall not include works that remain
      separable from, or merely link (or bind by name) to the interfaces of,
      the Work and Derivative Works thereof.

      "Contribution" shall mean any work of authorship, including
      the original version of the Work and any modifications or additions
      to that Work or Derivative Works thereof, that is intentionally
      submitted to Licensor for inclusion in the Work by the copyright owner
      or by an individual or Legal Entity authorized to submit on behalf of
      the copyright owner. For the purposes of this definition, "submitted"
      means any form of electronic, verbal, or written communication sent
      to the Licensor or its representatives, including but not limited to
      communication on electronic mailing lists, source code control systems,
      and issue tracking systems that are managed by, or on behalf of, the
      Licensor for the purpose of discussing and improving the Work, but
      excluding communication that is conspicuously marked or otherwise
      designated in writing by the copyright owner as "Not a Contribution."

      "Contributor" shall mean Licensor and any individual or Legal Entity
      on behalf of whom a Contribution has been received by Licensor and
      subsequently incorporated within the Work.

   2. Grant of Copyright License. Subject to the terms and conditions of
      this License, each Contributor hereby grants to You a perpetual,
      worldwide, non-exclusive, no-charge, royalty-free, irrevocable
      copyright license to reproduce, prepare Derivative Works of,
      publicly display, publicly perform, sublicense, and distribute the
      Work and such Derivative Works in Source or Object form.

   3. Grant of Patent License. Subject to the terms and conditions of
      this License, each Contributor hereby grants to You a perpetual,
      worldwide, non-exclusive, no-charge, royalty-free, irrevocable
      (except as stated in this section) patent license to make, have made,
      use, offer to sell, sell, import, and otherwise transfer the Work,
      where such license applies only to those patent claims licensable
      by such Contributor that are necessarily infringed by their
      Contribution(s) alone or by combination of their Contribution(s)
      with the Work to which such Contribution(s) was submitted. If You
      institute patent litigation against any entity (including a
      cross-claim or counterclaim in a lawsuit) alleging that the Work
      or a Contribution incorporated within the Work constitutes direct
      or contributory patent infringement, then any patent licenses
      granted to You under this License for that Work shall terminate
      as of the date such litigation is filed.

   4. Redistribution. You may reproduce and distribute copies of the
      Work or Derivative Works thereof in any medium, with or without
      modifications, and in Source or Object form, provided that You
      meet the following conditions:

      (a) You must give any other recipients of the Work or
          Derivative Works a copy of this License; and

      (b) You must cause any modified files to carry prominent notices
          stating that You changed the files; and

      (c) You must retain, in the Source form of any Derivative Works
          that You distribute, all copyright, patent, trademark, and
          attribution notices from the Source form of the Work,
          excluding those notices that do not pertain to any part of
          the Derivative Works; and

      (d) If the Work includes a "NOTICE" text file as part of its
          distribution, then any Derivative Works that You distribute must
          include a readable copy of the attribution notices contained
          within such NOTICE file, excluding those notices that do not
          pertain to any part of the Derivative Works, in at least one
          of the following places: within a NOTICE text file distributed
          as part of the Derivative Works; within the Source form or
          documentation, if provided along with the Derivative Works; or,
          within a display generated by the Derivative Works, if and
          wherever such third-party notices normally appear. The contents
          of the NOTICE file are for informational purposes only and
          do not modify the License. You may add Your own attribution
          notices within Derivative Works that You distribute, alongside
          or as an addendum to the NOTICE text from the Work, provided
          that such additional attribution notices cannot be construed
          as modifying the License.

      You may add Your own copyright statement to Your modifications and
      may provide additional or different license terms and conditions
      for use, reproduction, or distribution of Your modifications, or
      for any such Derivative Works as a whole, provided Your use,
      reproduction, and distribution of the Work otherwise complies with
      the conditions stated in this License.

   5. Submission of Contributions. Unless You explicitly state otherwise,
      any Contribution intentionally submitted for inclusion in the Work
      by You to the Licensor shall be under the terms and conditions of
      this License, without any additional terms or conditions.
      Notwithstanding the above, nothing herein shall supersede or modify
      the terms of any separate license agreement you may have executed
      with Licensor regarding such Contributions.

   6. Trademarks. This License does not grant permission to use the trade
      names, trademarks, service marks, or product names of the Licensor,
      except as required for reasonable and customary use in describing the
      origin of the Work and reproducing the content of the NOTICE file.

   7. Disclaimer of Warranty. Unless required by applicable law or
      agreed to in writing, Licensor provides the Work (and each
      Contributor provides its Contributions) on an "AS IS" BASIS,
      WITHOUT WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS OF ANY KIND, either express or
      implied, including, without limitation, any warranties or conditions
      of TITLE, NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY, or FITNESS FOR A
      PARTICULAR PURPOSE. You are solely responsible for determining the
      appropriateness of using or redistributing the Work and assume any
      risks associated with Your exercise of permissions under this License.

   8. Limitation of Liability. In no event and under no legal theory,
      whether in tort (including negligence), contract, or otherwise,
      unless required by applicable law (such as deliberate and grossly
      negligent acts) or agreed to in writing, shall any Contributor be
      liable to You for damages, including any direct, indirect, special,
      incidental, or consequential damages of any character arising as a
      result of this License or out of the use or inability to use the
      Work (including but not limited to damages for loss of goodwill,
      work stoppage, computer failure or malfunction, or any and all
      other commercial damages or losses), even if such Contributor
      has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

   9. Accepting Warranty or Additional Liability. While redistributing
      the Work or Derivative Works thereof, You may choose to offer,
      and charge a fee for, acceptance of support, warranty, indemnity,
      or other liability obligations and/or rights consistent with this
      License. However, in accepting such obligations, You may act only
      on Your own behalf and on Your sole responsibility, not on behalf
      of any other Contributor, and only if You agree to indemnify,
      defend, and hold each Contributor harmless for any liability
      incurred by, or claims asserted against, such Contributor by reason
      of your accepting any such warranty or additional liability.

   END OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS

   APPENDIX: How to apply the Apache License to your work.

      To apply the Apache License to your work, attach the following
      boilerplate notice, with the fields enclosed by brackets "[]"
      replaced with your own identifying information. (Don't include
      the brackets!)  The text should be enclosed in the appropriate
      comment syntax for the file format. We also recommend that a
      file or class name and description of purpose be included on the
      same "printed page" as the copyright notice for easier
      identification within third-party archives.

   Copyright [yyyy] [name of copyright owner]

   Licensed under the Apache License, Version 2.0 (the "License");
   you may not use this file except in compliance with the License.
   You may obtain a copy of the License at

       http://www.apache.org/licenses/LICENSE-2.0

   Unless required by applicable law or agreed to in writing, software
   distributed under the License is distributed on an "AS IS" BASIS,
   WITHOUT WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS OF ANY KIND, either express or implied.
   See the License for the specific language governing permissions and
   limitations under the License.
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